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STRATEGIC REPORT 
 
The Directors present their Strategic Report on Scottish Widows Services Limited (the ‘Company’) for the year ended 31 December 
2023. 
 
The Company forms part of Lloyds Banking Group. The Company continues to act as the employer for the Scottish Widows Retirement 
Benefits Scheme (‘SWRBS’). As part of this arrangement all associated service costs occurring from the SWRBS are recharged to the 
Insurance, Pensions and Investments (IP&I) Division companies of Lloyds Banking Group. 

Result for the year 
 
The result of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 is a profit before tax of £21.1m (2022: profit before tax of £24.4m). 
The total comprehensive loss for the year is £17.1m (2022: total comprehensive loss of £81.3m) driven by the remeasurement of 
retirement benefits obligations. The total net assets of the Company at 31 December 2023 are £407.3m (2022: £424.3m). 
 
Economic Environment 
 
The UK economy saw modest but resilient performance in 2023, with initial estimates indicating growth of 0.1 per cent. This was 
despite a large increase in interest rates intended to prevent elevated inflation after the surge in global energy and food prices caused 
in large part by Russia's invasion of Ukraine. While inflation fell in the second half of 2023, the cost of living squeeze is still ongoing, 
with energy prices still around 50 per cent higher than in 2021 and food prices broadly 30 per cent higher. Government support 
protected households from some of the impact across 2022 and 2023, but this is not planned to continue through to 2024. Also, 
interest rate rises to date have not yet had their full impact, with many households yet to refinance fixed-rate mortgages at higher 
rates. The UK economy in 2024 is thus expected to echo its 2023 growth performance, but there are of course risks to this view, not 
least via consequences of any escalation of wars in Ukraine or the Middle East.  
 
In line with Lloyds Banking Group's purpose of Helping Britain Prosper and a clear customer focus, Lloyds Banking Group are helping 
people and businesses finance their ambitions and growth whilst proactively providing support to those most affected by changes to 
the economic environment. The Company will continue to monitor the situation and risks to the business. 
 
Climate Change 
 
The Company is a subsidiary of Lloyds Banking Group plc. Lloyds Banking Group is committed to supporting the aims of the 2015 Paris 
Agreement in transitioning to a more sustainable, low carbon economy and recognises the importance of embedding climate-related 
risks and opportunities into business operations and strategy. 
 
The Company is supportive of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) framework and related regulatory 
expectations and is aligned to best practice outlined by the Climate Financial Risk Forum (CFRF). The Company is included in the 
Lloyds Banking Group Sustainability Report. This report is available on the Lloyds Banking Group website at 
www.lloydsbankinggroup.com/investors/esg-information. 
 
Key performance indicators 
 
Employee numbers and costs 
 
The staff costs and other employee related costs have increased by £28.7m to £148.1m (2022: £119.4m). Employees predominantly 
contribute to the service provided to the IP&I division companies.  
 
Pension scheme asset 
 
The defined benefit scheme has been recognised in the Company’s balance sheet as a £210.4m retirement benefit asset (2022: 
£235.2m). This result is mainly driven by an adverse £30.4m (net of tax) remeasurement effect recognised within other 
comprehensive income during the year. The movement is primarily explained by the significant increase in gilt yields and the effect 
of the high inflation environment on pension increases. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.lloydsbankinggroup.com/investors/esg-information
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STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Liquidity 
 
The Company regularly monitors its liquidity position to ensure that it has sufficient liquidity to meets its obligations. 
 
The Directors are of the opinion that the information presented in the financial statements as a whole provides the management 
information necessary for the Directors to understand the development, performance and position of the business of the Company. 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties 
 
The management of the business and the execution of the Company’s strategy are subject to a number of risks. In particular, ring-
fencing regulations have placed an increased focus on governance and risk management. Lloyds Banking Group including the 
Company have taken steps to ensure the control environment and governance structure support compliance. The financial risk 
management objectives and policies of the Company and the exposure to risks including market, credit, capital, liquidity and 
operational risks are set out in note 18.  
 
Section 172 (1) Statement and Statement of Engagement with Other Stakeholders 
 
In accordance with the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Act’), the Directors provide this Statement describing how they have had regard to 
matters set out in Section 172(1) of the Act, when performing their duty to promote the success of the Company under Section 172.       
 
This Statement also provides examples of how the Directors have engaged with and taken account of the views of key stakeholders. 
The Company is a subsidiary of Lloyds Banking Group plc (Lloyds Banking Group), and, as such, follows many of the processes and 
practices of Lloyds Banking Group, which are further referred to in this Statement where relevant. 
 
The Board is collectively responsible for promoting and assessing the long-term success of the Company. Understanding key 
stakeholders’ points of view (this includes shareholders, colleagues, society and environment, and suppliers), is central to the 
Company’s strategy, and informs key aspects of Board decision making. Stakeholder engagement is an important part of how Lloyds 
Banking Group is delivering on its purpose of Helping Britain Prosper.   
 
How the Board has discharged its Section 172 duties 
 
The Directors, as part of their appointment and during their induction to the Board, are briefed on their statutory Director duties and 
the standards required of subsidiary boards within Lloyds Banking Group. 
 
The governance arrangements of the Board are reviewed annually. There are matters reserved for its own determination and those 
for which it has delegated authority to management. This arrangement is designed to enable the Board to provide effective, sound, 
and entrepreneurial leadership of the Company within Lloyds Banking Group’s strategic aims and prudent and effective controls. 
 
The Board requires stakeholder implications to be considered by management in all proposals submitted to the Board.  Manging 
stakeholder interests also forms a key part of the Board’s delegation of authority to management for the delivery of the Company’s 
strategy and overall day-to-day management of the Company’s business within its defined risk appetite. 
 
Further details of how the Board considers each of the specific matters set out in Section 172 are set out in pages 5 to 7 which serves 
as the Directors’ Section 172(1) Statement. Given the importance of stakeholder interests, these are discussed where relevant 
throughout the Report. 
 
Shareholders 
 
The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Lloyds Banking Group and, as such, the Board ensures that the strategy, priorities, 
processes, and practices of the Company are aligned where appropriate to those of Lloyds Banking Group, ensuring that its interests 
as the Company’s shareholder are duly acknowledged. 
 
Further information in respect of the relationship of Lloyds Banking Group with its shareholders is included in the Strategic Report 
within the Lloyds Banking Group Annual Report and Financial Statements for 2023, available on the Lloyds Banking Group website. 
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STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Colleagues  
 
The Company’s approach in respect of colleagues, including their engagement, is part of that of Lloyds Banking Group. Colleagues 
remain a vital part of the delivery of the Company, and Lloyds Banking Group’s strategic ambitions. 
 
The Board of Lloyds Banking Group’s Responsible Business Committee continues to be the designated body for workforce 
engagement. The Responsible Business Committee reports regularly to the Board of Lloyds Banking Group on all of its activities, 
including on its colleague engagement agenda. 
 
Examples of engagement with colleagues undertaken during 2023 can be found in the Directors’ Report within the Lloyds Banking 
Group Annual Report and Financial Statements for 2023, available on the Lloyds Banking Group website. 
 
Feedback on the challenges which the rising cost of living is having on colleagues will continue to be monitored by the Board of Lloyds 
Banking Group to ensure the most appropriate support can be provided.  
 
Culture, Values and Purpose 
 
The Board of Lloyds Banking Group continues to recognise the importance of creating a purpose-driven culture led by values which 
drive the delivery of the right outcomes for stakeholders. 
 
Throughout 2023, the Board of Lloyds Banking Group has listened to colleagues to better understand how it feels to work for Lloyds 
Banking Group, the role its culture plays and what improvements could be made. There continues to be positive feedback about 
Lloyds Banking Group’s culture, with colleagues feeling Lloyds Banking Group is inclusive, safe, and respectful. 
 
Communities and Environment   
 
Support on environmental matters relevant to the Company is provided by the Responsible Business Committee which considers 
stakeholder views on all matters relating to Lloyds Banking Group’s purpose of Helping Britain Prosper by creating a more sustainable, 
and inclusive future for people and businesses, shaping finance as a force for good. 
 
Further information can be found in the Responsible Business Committee’s report within the Lloyds Banking Group Annual Report 
and Financial Statements for 2023, available on the Lloyds Banking Group website. 
 
Climate and Net Zero 
 
Lloyds Banking Group and its subsidiaries remain committed to the ambitious climate change goals it had set in 2020 including 
reducing the emissions of Lloyds Banking Group finances by more than 50 per cent by 2030 and achieving net zero by 2050 or sooner. 
 
Climate risk is a key area of focus for Lloyds Banking Group, specifically the risk of experiencing losses and/or reputational damage, 
either from the impacts of climate change and the transition to net zero or as a result of Lloyds Banking Group’s response to tackling 
climate change. 
 
Further information on Lloyds Banking Group’s progress in meeting climate ambitions can be found in the Strategic Report within the 
Lloyds Banking Group Annual Report and Financial Statements for 2023, available on the Lloyds Banking Group website. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SCOTTISH WIDOWS SERVICES LIMITED (SC189975)  COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

7 

 

Classification: Confidential 

STRATEGIC REPORT (continued) 
 
Suppliers  
 
As part of Lloyds Banking Group, the Company relies on a number of partners for important aspects of its operations and customer 
service provision. As well as external partners, the Company relies on intra-group supplier arrangements for certain services.   
 
Supplier Framework 
 
Importance is placed on having the right supplier framework to operate responsibly. Lloyds Banking Group’s Sourcing & Supply Chain 
Management Policy applies to all its business units, divisions, and subsidiaries, including the Company, with the Directors assuming 
ultimate responsibility for its application of that policy in a way that is appropriate for the Company. This ensures the most significant 
supplier contracts receive approval of the Board, including those which are key in progressing strategic priorities. The framework also 
ensures appropriate management oversight of supplier spending not considered by the Board, allowing challenge to be made where 
appropriate, and minimising risks and unnecessary cost. 
 
Suppliers are required to adhere to relevant Lloyds Banking Group policies and comply with its Code of Supplier Responsibility, which 
can be found on the Lloyds Banking Group website. This defines expectations for responsible business behaviour, underpinning the 
efforts of the Company and Lloyds Banking Group to share and extend good practice. All material contracts are subject to rigorous 
cost management governance with regular review of key supplier risks. 
 
Lloyds Banking Group remains committed to collaborating with suppliers to tackle climate change and ensure it is embedded within 
the strategy and governance of its organisations. Reducing suppliers' emissions is a key component of its sustainability strategy.  The 
Lloyds Banking Group Emerald Standard, continues to influence actions taken by suppliers to decarbonise their business activities. 
 
Modern Slavery and Human Rights 
 
Lloyds Banking Group’s role as a sustainable and inclusive business is central to its purpose, with the Board of Lloyds Banking Group’s 
Responsible Business Committee overseeing its ambitions in building a truly purpose driven organisation. As part of its oversight of 
its performance (including that of the Company, as a responsible business) – it governs Lloyds Banking Group’s approach to business 
human rights and modern slavery. 
 
Lloyds Banking Group is committed to operating in accordance with internationally accepted human rights standards and with all 
relevant legislation including the UK Modern Slavery Act 2015.     
 
Further information on Lloyds Banking Group’s approach to human rights and modern slavery is available in its Sustainability Report 
and Modern Slavery Policy Statement on its website and its annual Modern Slavery Statement published on the homepage of its 
website and covers all its subsidiary companies, setting out the steps taken to prevent and manage the risk of modern slavery in 
Lloyds Banking Group’s business and supply chains.     
  
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board,  
 
 
 

 
 
R A Messenger 
Director 
25 September 2024 



SCOTTISH WIDOWS SERVICES LIMITED (SC189975)  COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

8 

 

Classification: Confidential 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 

Principal activities 
 
The Directors present the audited financial statements of the Company, a private company limited by shares, domiciled and 
incorporated in United Kingdom, whose principal activity is to act as a service provider to subsidiary undertakings of Scottish Widows 
Group Limited. The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Lloyds Bank plc.  
 

Outlook 
 

The Directors consider that the Company’s principal activities will continue to be unchanged in the foreseeable future.  
 

Results and dividend 
 
The result of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 is a profit before tax of £21.1m (2022: profit before tax of £24.4m).  
 

During the year, no interim dividends (2022: £nil) were paid. Directors recommend no payment of a dividend in respect of the year 
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: £nil).  
 

Directors 
 

The names of the current Directors are listed on page 3. There has been no changes in Directorships during the year or since the end 
of the year. 
 

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 19. 
 

Directors’ Indemnities 
 
Lloyds Banking Group plc has granted to the Directors of the Company a deed of indemnity which constitutes ‘qualifying third party 
indemnity provisions’ for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006. The deed was in force during the whole of the financial year and 
at the date of approval of the financial statements or from the date of appointment in respect of any Director who joined the board 
of the Company during the financial year. Directors no longer in office but who served on the Board of the Company at any time in 
the financial year had the benefit of this deed of indemnity during that period of service. 
 
The deed for existing Directors is available for inspection at the registered office of Lloyds Banking Group plc. In addition, Lloyds 
Banking Group has in place appropriate Directors' and Officers' Liability Insurance cover which was in place throughout the financial 
year. 
 
Disclosure of information to Auditor 
 

In accordance with Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006, in the case of each Director in office at the date the report is approved:  
 

• So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors are unaware; and 

• The Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make themself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that information. 

 

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others 
 
Disclosures relating to engagement with suppliers, customers and others are included in the Strategic Report and are therefore 
incorporated into this report by reference. 
 
Employees 
 

Lloyds Banking Group is committed to providing employment practices and policies which recognise the diversity of the workforce 
and ensure equality for employees regardless of sex, race, disability, age, sexual orientation or religious belief. In the UK, Lloyds 
Banking Group belongs to the major employer groups campaigning for equality for all staff, including the Employers’ Forum on 
Disability, Employers’ Forum on Age and Stonewall. Lloyds Banking Group is also represented on the Board of Race for Opportunity 
and the Equal Opportunities Commission. Involvement with these organisations enables Lloyds Banking Group to identify and 
implement best practice for staff. 
 
Lloyds Banking Group is committed to continuing the employment of, and for arranging appropriate training for, employees of the 
Company who have become disabled persons during the period when they were employed by the Company. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Employees (continued) 
 
Employees are kept closely involved in major changes affecting them through such measures as team meetings, briefings, internal 
communications and opinion surveys. These meetings, briefings and internal communications also serve to achieve a common 
awareness of the financial and economic factors that affect the performance of the Company and Lloyds Banking Group. There are 
well-established procedures, including regular meetings with recognised unions, to ensure that the views of employees are taken 
into account in reaching decisions. Schemes offering share options are available for most staff, to encourage their financial 
involvement in Lloyds Banking Group. 
 
Charitable and political contributions 
 

During the year, the Company made no charitable contributions (2022: £53.8k). The Company made no political contributions during 
the year (2022: £nil). 
 
Financial risk management 
 

Disclosures relating to financial risk management are included in note 18 to the financial statements and are therefore incorporated 
into this report by reference. 
 
Corporate Governance 
 
In accordance with the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Group (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as amended by the 
Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018) (the ‘Regulations’), for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has 
in its corporate governance arrangements applied the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies (the 
‘Principles’). The following section explains the Company’s approach to corporate governance, and its application of the Principles.  
 
Fundamental to the Company’s strategy are high standards of corporate governance. A Corporate Governance Framework is in place 
for the Company which sets the approach and applicable standards in respect of the governance requirements of the operation of 
the Company as part of Lloyds Banking Group’s Ring-Fenced Bank, and its application of the principles. 
 
This includes the matters reserved to the Company’s Board, and the matters the Board has chosen to delegate to management, 
including decision making on operational matters such as those relating to credit, liquidity, and the day-to-day management of risk. 
Governance arrangements, including the Corporate Governance Framework, are reviewed at least annually to ensure they remain fit 
for purpose. The Corporate Governance Framework of the Company further addresses the requirements of the Principles as follows.  
  
Principle One – Purpose and Leadership  
 
The Board is collectively responsible for promoting and assessing the long-term, sustainable success of the Company. It achieves this 
by agreeing the Company’s strategy, within the wider strategy of Lloyds Banking Group, and overseeing delivery against it.   
 
Consideration of the needs of all stakeholders is fundamental to the way the Company operates, as is maintaining the highest 
standards of business conduct, which is a vital part of the corporate culture. The Company’s corporate culture and values align to 
those of Lloyds Banking Group, which are discussed in more detail in the Lloyds Banking Group’s annual report and Financial 
Statements for 2023.  
 
Principle Two – Board Composition  
 
The Company is led by a Board comprising Executive Directors, further details of the Directors can be found on page 3. The Board is 
committed to ensuring it has the right balance of skills, experience and knowledge and considers its current size and composition is 
appropriate to the Company's circumstances. New appointments are made on merit, taking account of the specific skills and 
experience, and knowledge needed to ensure a rounded Board and the diverse benefits each candidate can bring to the overall Board 
composition. There are a range of policies within Lloyds Banking Group to help provide mentoring and development opportunities 
for female and Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic executives within Lloyds Banking Group and to ensure unbiased career progression 
opportunities.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Corporate Governance (continued) 
 
Principle Three – Director Responsibilities  
 
The Directors assume ultimate responsibility for all matters which concern the operation of the Company’s business, and along with 
senior management, are committed to maintaining a robust control framework as the foundation for the delivery of good 
governance, including the effective management of delegation though the Corporate Governance Framework. Policies are also in 
place in relation to potential conflicts of interest which may arise.  
 
The Board is managed, with open debate, and adequate time for members to consider proposals which are put forward. The Chair 
of the Board assumes responsibility with support from the Company Secretary for the provision to each meeting of accurate and 
timely information.  
 
Principle Four – Opportunity and Risk  
 
The Board oversees the development and implementation of the Company’s strategy, within the context of the wider strategy of 
Lloyds Banking Group, which includes consideration of all strategic opportunities when required.  
 
The Board is also responsible for the long-term sustainable success of the Company, generating value for its shareholders and making 
a positive contribution to society. Further specific aims and objectives of the Board are formalised within the Corporate Governance 
Framework.  

 
Strong risk management is central to the strategy of the Company, along with a robust risk control framework, serves as the 
foundation for the delivery of effective management of risk. The Company’s risk appetite, principles, policies, procedures, controls, 
and reporting are managed in conjunction with those of Lloyds Banking Group and, as such, are regularly reviewed to ensure they 
remain fully in line with regulations, law, corporate governance, and industry best practice. The Company’s principal risks are 
discussed further on pages 41– 43 in note 18.  
 
Principle Five – Remuneration  
 
The Remuneration Committee of Lloyds Banking Group (the ‘Remuneration Committee’) assumes responsibility for the Company’s 
approach to remuneration. This includes reviewing and making recommendations on remuneration policy as relevant to the 
Company, ranging from the remuneration of Executive Directors to that of all other colleagues employed by the Company. Two of 
the three designated independent non-executive Directors of the Ring-Fenced Banks also attend meetings of the Remuneration 
Committee as observers in order to provide insights on matters relevant to the Ring-Fenced Banks and as part of their role in Lloyds 
Banking Group’s overall governance structure.  
 
Principle Six – Stakeholder Relationship and Engagement 
 
The Company operates under Lloyds Banking Group’s wider approach to responsible business, which acknowledges that the Company 
and Lloyds Banking Group have a responsibility to help address the economic, social and environmental challenges which the UK 
faces and as part of this understand the needs of the Company’s external stakeholders, including in the development and 
implementation of the Lloyds Banking Group strategy. 
  
Lloyds Banking Group’s purpose, Helping Britain Prosper, in which the Company participates, aims to create a more sustainable and 
inclusive future for people and businesses, shaping finance as a force for good. Lloyds Banking Group’s role as a sustainable and 
inclusive business is central to its purpose, with the Lloyds Banking Group Board’s Responsible Business Committee overseeing the 
Lloyds Banking Group’s ambitions in building a truly purpose driven organisation. 
 
In 2023, the Responsible Business Committee provided further oversight and support of Lloyds Banking Group’s plans for embedding 
responsible business including its environmental and sustainability strategy. The Committee is the designated body that fulfils the 
Lloyds Banking Group board’s responsibility for Consumer Duty oversight, and supports the wider workforce engagement strategy, 
reporting to the board on key themes and issues from colleague feedback.  
 
The approach of the Board in respect of its non-colleague stakeholders is described in the separate Section 172 Statement made in 
compliance with the Regulations, in the Strategic Report on page 5. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Going concern 
 
The going concern of the Company is dependent on successfully maintaining adequate levels of capital and liquidity. In order to 
satisfy themselves that the Company has adequate resources to continue to operate for the foreseeable future, the Directors have 
considered a number of key dependencies which are set out in the risk management section under principal risks and uncertainties. 
These include the liquidity and capital position in addition to considering projections (including stress testing) for the Company’s 
capital and liquidity position. Having consulted on these, the Directors conclude that it is appropriate to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
 
Information incorporated by reference 
 
The following additional information forms part of the Directors’ Report, and is incorporated by reference: 

Content Disclosure Section 

Disclosures required under the Companies Act 
2006 and the Large and Medium-sized Companies 
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 
2008 

Statement of engagement 
with suppliers, employees and 
other stakeholder  

Strategic Report 

Disclosures required by the Financial Conduct 
Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rule 
7.2.5R 

Corporate Governance 
Statement – internal control 
and risk management systems 

Note 18 (Risk Management) 

 
Independent auditor 
 
Pursuant to section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, auditor duly appointed by the members of the Company shall, subject to any 
resolution to the contrary, be deemed to be reappointed for the next financial year and Deloitte LLP will therefore continue in office. 
 
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 
 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ and Strategic Reports and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 
 
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have 
prepared the Company’s financial statements in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006. Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they 
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the company for that 
period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to: 
 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether for the Company, UK-adopted international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006 have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 
continue in business. 

 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities (continued) 
 
Each of the Directors whose names are listed on page 3 confirms that, to the best of their knowledge: 
 

• The Company financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting 
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Company; and 

• the Strategic Report on pages 4 to 7, and the Directors’ Report on pages 8 to 12 include a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the Company, together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that it faces. 

 
The Directors have also separately reviewed and approved the Strategic Report. 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

R A Messenger 
Director 
25 September 2024 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Scottish Widows Services Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

In our opinion the financial statements of Scottish Widows Services Limited (the ‘company’): 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2023 and of its comprehensive expense for the 
year then ended;  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
We have audited the financial statements which comprise: 

• the statement of comprehensive expense; 

• the balance sheet; 

• the cash flows statement; 

• the statement of changes in equity; and 

• the related notes 1 to 22. 
 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom adopted 
international accounting standards. 
 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report. 
 
We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 

Conclusions relating to going concern. 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 
twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of 
this report. 
 

Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise 
to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Scottish Widows Services Limited (continued) 

Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our 
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.  
 
We considered the nature of the company’s industry and its control environment and reviewed the company’s documentation of 
their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also enquired of management and the 
directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities, including those that are specific to the 
company’s business sector. 
 
We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the company operates in, and identified the key laws and 
regulations that:  

• had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. These included 
International Financial Reporting Standards, UK Stewardship Code, Companies Act 2006 and UK pensions and tax legislation; 
and 

• do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the company’s ability 
to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included UK Bribery Act, General Data Protection Regulation, and UK Employment 
Law.  

 
We discussed among the audit engagement team including relevant internal specialists such as pensions, and IT, regarding the 
opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the financial 
statements. 
 
In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of 

management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the appropriateness of 

journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a 

potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of 

business. 

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following: 

• reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of 
relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements. 

• performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material 
misstatement due to fraud.  

• enquiring of management concerning actual and potential litigation and claims, and instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations; and  

• reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance.  
 
 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Scottish Widows Services Limited (continued) 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

• the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 
 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have 
not identified any material misstatements in [the strategic report or] the directors’ report. 
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception. 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not 
visited by us; or 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Charlie Scarr ACA (Senior statutory auditor) 
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
London, United Kingdom 
 
25 September 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

cwscarr
Stamp
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

 Note 

2023  2022 

£000 £000 

    

    
Revenue 3 982,674  990,626 

Net Interest receivable in respect of defined benefit pension scheme 7 11,762 7,125 

Staff costs and other employee related costs 4a (148,089) (119,424) 

Operating expenses 5 (830,426)  (857,086) 

    

Operating Profit  15,921 21,241 

    
Investment income  5,169 3,127 

    

Profit before tax  21,090 24,368  

    
Taxation 8 (7,719) (4,924) 

    

Profit for the year  13,371 19,444 

    
 
Other comprehensive income    

    
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss     
Remeasurement of retirement benefits obligations, net of tax 14c (30,426) (100,793) 

    

Other comprehensive expenses  (30,426) (100,793) 

Total comprehensive expense for the year  (17,055) (81,349) 

 
The notes set out on pages 20 to 45 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 
 

 

 2023  2022 

Note £000 £000 

    

ASSETS    
Intangible assets 9 7,561 20,991 

Retirement benefit asset 14 210,388 235,199 

Financial assets: 
    At amortised cost: 

   

Loans and other receivables 11 204,518  134,442  

Cash and cash equivalents 12 201,304  235,750  

Total assets  623,771  626,382  

    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Capital and reserves attributable to Company’s shareholder 13   
Share capital  81,000  81,000  

Retained earnings  326,286 343,341 

Total equity   407,286 424,341 

    
LIABILITIES    
Current tax liabilities  10 13,801 13,167 

Accruals  15 33,472 56,098 

Financial liabilities:    

     Trade and other payables 16 125,463  87,032  

  Deferred tax liabilities 10 43,749 45,744 

Total liabilities  216,485  202,041  

    

Total liabilities and equity  623,771 626,382 

 
The notes set out on pages 20 to 45 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
The financial statements on pages 16 to 45 were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 September 2024, signed on its behalf and 
authorised for issue by 
 

 
 
 
R A Messenger 
Director 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
 

 Note 

2023  2022 

£000 £000 

    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Profit before tax   21,090 24,368  

Adjustments for:    
Amortisation of intangible assets 9 13,430 21,913 

Investment income  (5,169) (3,127)  

Net movement in operating assets and liabilities 17 (29,461) 88,593   

Remeasurement of net defined benefit obligations 14c (40,568) (133,862)  

Taxation received  1,063  - 

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities  (39,615) (2,115)  

    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Investment income  5,169 3,127  

Net cash generated from investing activities  5,169 3,127 

    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (34,446) 1,012  

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  235,750  234,738  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12 201,304  235,750 

 
The notes set out on pages 20 to 45 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
 

  

Share  
capital  

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

    £000 £000 £000 

 

 

   
Balance as at 1 January 2022 

 
81,000 424,690 505,690 

 

 

   
Profit for the year   

 19,444 19,444 

Other comprehensive expenses 
 

   

    Remeasurements of retirement benefit obligations, net of tax (note 14c)  - (100,793) (100,793) 

Total comprehensive expense for the year 
 

- (81,349) (81,349) 

Balance as at  31 December 2022  81,000 343,341 424,341 

 

 

   
Profit for the year   13,371 13,371 

Other comprehensive expenses 
 

   

    Remeasurements of retirement benefit obligations, net of tax (note 14c)  - (30,426) (30,426) 

Total comprehensive expense for the year 
 

- (17,055) (17,055) 

Balance as at 31 December 2023   81,000 326,286 407,286 

     
All of the above amounts are attributable to the equity holder of the Company. 
 
The notes set out on pages 20 to 45 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
  
1.   Accounting policies 
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements, which have been consistently applied to all periods 
presented in these financial statements unless stated otherwise, are set out below. 
 
(a) Basis of preparation 

 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared: 
 

• in accordance with the International Accounting Standards (‘IASs’) and in conformity with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006; and 

 

• under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss, as set out in the relevant accounting policies. 

 
The Directors are satisfied that the Company has adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, 
the financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
In accordance with IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, assets and liabilities in the balance sheet are presented in accordance 
with management’s estimated order of liquidity. Analysis of the assets and liabilities of the Company into amounts expected to be 
received or settled within 12 months after the reporting date (current) and more than 12 months after the reporting date (non-
current) is presented in the notes. 
 
Standards and interpretations effective in 2023 
 
The following pronouncements are not applicable for the year ending 31 December 2023 and have not been applied in preparing 
these financial statements.  
 
The IASB has issued a number of minor amendments to IFRS effective 1 January 2024, including IFRS 16 Lease liability in a sale and 
leaseback, IAS 1 Non-current liabilities with covenants, and IAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current. These 
amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company and, apart from the amendments relating to IFRS 16 
Lease liability in a sale and leaseback, have not been endorsed for use in the UK. 
 
There are no other standards or interpretations that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on 
the Company. 
 
(b) Financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition. Management’s policies 
for the recognition of specific financial assets and financial liabilities, as identified on the balance sheet, are set out under the relevant 
accounting policies. 
 
On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss, depending on 
the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets and whether the cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest. The Company assesses its business models at a portfolio level based on its objectives for the relevant portfolio, how the 
performance of the portfolio is managed and reported, and the frequency of asset sales. The Company reclassifies financial assets 
when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. A reclassification will only take place when the change 
is significant to the Company’s operations and will occur at a portfolio level and not for individual instruments; reclassifications are 
expected to be rare.  
 
The Company initially recognises loans, debt securities and subordinated liabilities when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of securities and other financial assets and trading 
liabilities are recognised on trade date, being the date that the Company is committed to purchase or sell an asset. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 (CONTINUED) 
 
1.   Accounting policies (continued) 

 
(b)         Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from those assets has expired or when the 
Company has transferred its contractual right to receive the cash flows from the assets and either: substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership have been transferred; or the Company has neither retained nor transferred substantially all of the risks and 
rewards, but has transferred control. 
 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
Transaction costs incidental to the acquisition of a financial asset are expensed through the statement of comprehensive income, 
within net gains and losses on assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet only when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
(c) Fair value methodology 
 
All assets and liabilities carried at fair value, or for which a fair value measurement is disclosed, are categorised into a “fair value 
hierarchy” as follows: 
 

(i) Level 1 
 
Valued using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities to those being valued. An active market 
is one in which arm’s length transactions in the instrument occur with both sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing 
information on an ongoing basis. Examples include listed equities, listed debt securities, Open Ended Investment Companies (OEICs) 
and unit trusts traded in active markets, and exchange traded derivatives such as futures. 
 

(ii) Level 2 
 
Valued using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as 
prices) or indirectly (derived from prices). If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, a Level 2 input must be observable 
for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. Level 2 inputs include the following: 
 

• Quoted prices for similar (but not identical) instruments in active markets; 

• Quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, where prices are not current, or price 
quotations vary substantially either over time or among market makers; 

• Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the instrument (for example, interest rates and yield curves 
observable at commonly quoted intervals and default rates); and 

• Inputs that are derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data by correlation or other means. 
 

Examples of these are securities measured using discounted cash flow models based on market observable swap yields such as Over 
the Counter interest rate swaps, listed debt and restricted equity securities. 
 

(iii) Level 3 
 
Valuations are based on mathematical models, market prices/data (where available) and subjective assumptions, including 
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs may have been used to measure fair value where observable inputs are not available. This 
approach allows for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date (or 
market information for the inputs to any valuation models). Unobservable inputs reflect the assumptions the Company considers 
that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, for example private equity investments held by the Company. 
Where estimates are used, these are based on a combination of independent third-party evidence and internally developed models, 
calibrated to market observable data where possible.  

Examples of Level 3 assets include portfolio of illiquid loans and advances to customers, investments in private debt funds, private 
equity shares and complex derivatives. 

Further analysis of the Company’s instruments held at fair value is set out at note 18. The Company’s management, through a Fair 
Value Pricing Committee, review information on the fair value of the Company's financial assets and the sensitivities to these values 
on a regular basis.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 (CONTINUED) 
 
1.  .Accounting policies (continued) 

 
(c)         Fair value methodology (continued) 
 
Transfers between different levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at the next reporting date after the change 
in circumstances that caused the transfer. 
 
(d) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue 
 
Revenue is recognised as the related expenses are incurred. Revenue is generated, as per the shared service agreement, where the 
Company charges other Lloyds Banking Group companies for costs incurred as a result of the services provided including staff costs, 
service costs together with management charges which are on an arms-length basis and include a variable margin. 
 
Revenue is recognised on a gross basis due to the Company being considered to be the Principal of the services supplied.  
 
Investment income 
 
Interest income for all interest bearing financial instruments is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues, 
within investment income. 
 
(e) Expense recognition 
 
Staff costs and other employee related costs 
 
Staff costs and other employee related costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred, within staff costs 
and other employee related costs. 
 
Net Interest receivable in respect of defined benefit pension scheme 
 
This reflects the extent to which interest income on plan assets is greater than the interest cost on defined benefit pension scheme 
obligations. Policy (k) sets out further information on the accounting for retirement benefit obligations. 
 
Operating expenses 
 
Operating expenses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within the period incurred, within operating expenses. 
 
Share-based payments 

 
Lloyds Banking Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans in respect of services received from 
certain of the Company's employees. The value of the employee services received in exchange for equity instruments granted under 
these plans is recognised as an expense over the vesting period of the instruments. This expense is determined by Lloyds Banking 
Group by reference to the fair value of the number of equity instruments that are expected to vest, and the appropriate proportion 
is recharged to, and recognised as an expense by the Company.  
 
(f) Intangible assets 
 
Software development costs 

 
Costs that are directly associated with the acquisition of software licences and the production of identifiable and unique software 
products controlled by the Company, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are 
recognised as intangible assets, subject to de minimis limits. Direct costs include the software development team’s employee costs 
and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. All other costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software 
programmes are recognised through the statement of comprehensive income as an expense as incurred, within operating expenses. 
 
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are valued at cost and amortised using the straight-line method over 
their expected useful lives, not exceeding a period of seven years. Subsequent expenditure is only capitalised when it increases the 
expected future economic benefits of the specific asset to which it relates. 
 
The amortisation charge for the year in respect of software licences and software development costs is recognised through the 
statement of comprehensive income, within operating expenses. The carrying value of the assets is tested for impairment at each 
reporting date. Further information on the Company’s impairment policy is set out at policy (h). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 (CONTINUED) 
 
1. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(g) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and investments in liquidity funds, which are short-term highly liquid investments 
(excluding such investments as otherwise meet this definition but which are held for investment purposes rather than for the 
purposes of meeting short-term cash commitments).  
 
Holdings in liquidity funds are measured at fair value through profit or loss, with income received recognised in investment income. 
 
The fair value of holdings in liquidity funds is determined as the last published price applicable to the vehicle at the reporting date. 

 
Holdings in liquidity funds are categorised as level 1 in the fair value hierarchy. These assets are valued using quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets to those being valued. An active market is one in which similar arm’s length transactions in the instrument 
occur with both sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 
 
(h)         Impairment 
 
Financial assets 
 
Where an impairment charge arises in the statement of comprehensive income it includes the change in expected credit losses for 
financial assets held at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are calculated by using an appropriate probability of default and 
applying this to the estimated exposure of the Company at the point of default after taking into account the value of any collateral 
held or other mitigants of loss.  
 
At initial recognition, allowance is made for expected credit losses resulting from default events that are possible within the next 12 
months (12-month expected credit losses). In the event of a significant increase in credit risk, allowance is made for expected credit 
losses resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument (lifetime expected credit losses). 
Financial assets where 12-month expected credit losses are recognised are considered to be Stage 1; financial assets which are 
considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk are in Stage 2; and financial assets which have defaulted or are 
otherwise considered to be credit impaired are allocated to Stage 3. 
 
An assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition considers the change in the risk of default 
occurring over the remaining expected life of the financial instrument. The assessment is unbiased, probability-weighted and uses 
forward-looking information consistent with that used in the measurement of expected credit losses. In determining whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Company uses quantitative tests based on relative and absolute probability of default 
(PD) movements linked to internal credit ratings and other indicators of historic delinquency. However, unless identified at an earlier 
stage, the credit risk of financial assets is deemed to have increased significantly when more than 30 days past due. Where the credit 
risk subsequently improves such that it no longer represents a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the asset is 
transferred back to Stage 1. 
 
For financial instruments that are considered to have low credit risk, the credit risk is assumed to not have increased significantly 
since initial recognition. Financial instruments are considered to have low credit risk when the borrower is considered to have a low 
risk of default from a market perspective. Typically financial instruments with an external credit rating of investment grade are 
considered to have low credit risk. 
 
Assets are transferred to Stage 3 when they have defaulted or are otherwise considered to be credit impaired. IFRS 9 contains a 
rebuttable presumption that default occurs no later than when a payment is 90 days past due. The Company uses this 90 day 
backstop.  
 
A loan or receivable is normally written off, either partially or in full, against the related allowance when the proceeds from realising 
any available security have been received or there is no realistic prospect of recovery and the amount of the loss has been 
determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of impairment losses recorded in the 
statement of comprehensive income.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 (CONTINUED) 
 
1. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(h) Impairment (continued) 
 
Non-financial assets 

 
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred, the amount of the loss is charged to the relevant line in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which it occurs. Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed 
for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

 
(i) Taxation 
  
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are charged or credited in the statement of comprehensive 
income except to the extent that the tax arises from a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, 
outside the statement of comprehensive income (either in other comprehensive income, directly in equity, or through a business 
combination), in which case the tax appears in the same statement as the transaction that gave rise to it. 
 
Current tax is the amount of corporate income taxes expected to be payable or recoverable based on the profit for the period as 
adjusted for items that are not taxable or not deductible, and is calculated using tax rates and laws that were enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
Current tax includes amounts provided in respect of uncertain tax positions when management expects that, upon examination of 
the uncertainty by His Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC) or another tax authority, it is more likely than not that an economic 
outflow will occur. Provisions reflect management's best estimate of the ultimate liability based on their interpretation of tax law, 
precedent and guidance, informed by external tax advice as necessary. Changes in facts and circumstances underlying these 
provisions are reassessed at each balance sheet date, and the provisions are re-measured as required to reflect current information. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the balance sheet. Deferred tax is calculated using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date, and which are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is 
settled. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences but not recognised for taxable temporary 
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements where the reversal of the temporary difference 
can be controlled and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax liabilities are not 
recognised on temporary differences that arise from goodwill which is not deductible for tax purposes. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised, and are reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised in respect of temporary differences that arise on initial recognition of assets and 
liabilities acquired other than in a business combination. Deferred tax is not discounted. 
 
Following amendments to IAS 12 by the IASB (International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules, issued in May 2023) entities are 
not permitted to disclose information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to the Organisation for Economic, Co-operation 
and Development’s Pillar Two Model Rules, including any qualified domestic minimum top-up taxes. No changes arise to the 
Company’s deferred tax assets or liabilities as a result of the Company having applied the relevant exemption. 
 
(j)  Share capital 
 
Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets. Incremental costs directly attributable to 
the issue of equity instruments are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 (CONTINUED) 
 
1. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(k) Retirement benefit obligations  
 

Individuals employed by the Company may be members of the Scottish Widows Retirement Benefits Scheme (“SWRBS”) or of other 
pension schemes administered by Lloyds Banking Group. All schemes are funded through payments to trustee-administered funds, 
determined by periodic actuarial calculations.  

 

The Company contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution elements of the pension schemes in question. A defined 
benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, dependent on 
one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company 
pays fixed contributions; there is no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions. 
 
(i) SWRBS  

 

A full actuarial valuation of this defined benefit scheme is carried out at least every three years with interim reviews in the intervening 
years; the valuation is updated to 31 December each year by a qualified actuary. For the purposes of these annual updates, scheme 
assets are included at their fair value and scheme liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method 
by an independent, qualified actuary appointed by Lloyds Banking Group. 

 
The amount recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit element of the pension scheme is the fair value of plan 
assets less the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date. The present value of the defined benefit 
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates equivalent to the market yields at 
the reporting date on high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that 
have terms to maturity that are approximate to the terms of the related pension asset/liability. 

 
A surplus is only recognised to the extent that it is recoverable through a right to make reduced contributions in the future or to 
receive a refund from the scheme. The Company recognises any change in the effect of the surplus that can be recognised in other 
comprehensive income within remeasurements of the retirement benefit asset. 

 
The Company recognises in profit or loss the current service cost of providing pension benefits and the net interest on the net defined 
benefit obligation. The current service cost is recognised within other pension costs.  

 
The net interest on the net defined benefit obligation is recognised within finance costs, and is determined by applying the discount 
rate used to measure the net defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit obligation at that 
date, taking account of changes in the net defined benefit obligation during the period as a result of contributions and benefit 
payments. 
 
Past service costs are changes in the defined benefit obligation arising from plan amendments or curtailments and are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, within operating expenses, when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs. The Company recognises 
the gain or loss on a settlement of the defined benefit obligation immediately in profit or loss when the settlement occurs. 

 
The Company recognises in other comprehensive income, within remeasurements of the retirement benefit obligations, actuarial 
gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in the actuarial assumptions, and the return on plan assets 
excluding the net interest on the net defined benefit obligation that is recognised in profit or loss.  

 

(ii) Defined contribution schemes 
 

Contributions made by the Company to defined contribution arrangements, including Your Tomorrow, are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income as an employee benefit expense when they are due, within staff costs and other employee 
related costs.  
 
(l) Accruals 
 
Accruals relate to expenses incurred in the year but not yet paid and are recognised within operating expenses. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(m) Reimbursement Asset / Liability 

 
On the transfer of ownership of the SWRBS, the Company entered into a tripartite agreement with Scottish Widows Limited and 
Lloyds Bank plc which required Scottish Widows Limited to make a one off £284m payment to the Company, in exchange for Lloyds 
Bank plc bearing the exposure to volatility risks on the SWRBS. 
 
At the closure of the scheme, any actuarial losses incurred in excess of the payment will be reimbursed by Lloyds Bank plc and any 
actuarial gains generated in excess of the cumulative actuarial losses covered by the capital payment will be passed on to Lloyds Bank 
plc, in line with the Tripartite agreement between Scottish Widows Limited and Lloyds Bank plc dated 2nd May 2018. 
 
The Company’s position is formally reviewed annually and fair valued. The expected volatility of future actuarial gains and losses, the 
time scale to the end of the Scheme, currently estimated in excess of 80 years, have resulted in the fair value liability being immaterial 
as at the current year end. 
 
2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The Company’s management makes estimates and judgements that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities. Estimates 
and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
 
Critical accounting judgement 
 
a) Treatment of the risk premium payment / capital receipt in 2018 

 
Judgement is applied in considering the appropriate accounting basis on which the £284m payment received by the Company in 2018 
from SWL has been recorded in the financial statements. In addition the Directors exercise judgement in determining the ongoing 
accounting treatment of this transaction.   
 
b) Recoverability / potential restrictions on pension surplus 

 
Judgement is applied in considering the extent to which IFRIC 14 / IAS19 ceiling limits on defined benefit assets and minimum funding 
requirements are required. 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
c) Retirement benefit obligations 
 
The majority of the Company’s employees who were a member of a defined benefit scheme were members of the SWRBS. Remaining 
employees are members of the Your Tomorrow defined contribution scheme.  
 
The Company’s defined benefit obligation represents 100% of the SWRBS pension scheme due to the Company being the participating 
employer. The accounting valuation of the Lloyds Banking Group’s defined benefit pension schemes’ liabilities requires management 
to make a number of assumptions. The key areas of estimation uncertainty are inflation, the discount rate applied to future cash 
flows and the expected lifetime of the schemes’ members. Lloyds Banking Group considers latest market practice and actual 
experience in determining the appropriate assumptions for both current mortality expectations and the rate of future mortality 
improvement. It is uncertain whether this rate of improvement will be sustained going forward and, as a result, actual experience 
may differ from current expectations. Further information on these liabilities is given in note 14. 
 
d) Valuation of the risk premium payment / capital receipt in 2018 
 
The ongoing valuation of the risk premium payment requires the Directors to estimate the fair value of any reimbursement asset or 
liability arising. The key inputs into this estimates are in relation the length of duration of the SWRBS pension scheme as well as the 
discount rate and are outlined in note 14 
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3. Revenue 
 

 

2023 2022 

£000 £000 
   
Management charges 981,562  989,464  
Pension management income retained by the Company 1,112 1,162 

Total 982,674 990,626 

 
4a.  Staff costs and other employee related costs 
 

 

2023 2022 

£000 £000 
   
Wages and salaries 105,418 86,061 
Social security costs 17,625 13,041 
Other pension costs 25,046 20,322 

Total 148,089 119,424 

 
 
Share based payments 
 

The charge to the statement of comprehensive income is as follows:   
2023 2022 

  £000 £000    
Deferred bonus plan 14,796  13,701  
Executive and SAYE plans 6,096 3,562 
Share matching scheme 866 532 

Total 21,759 17,795 
 

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company received the above charges relating to share-based payment schemes. All 
share-based payment schemes are operated by Lloyds Banking Group and are equity settled. 
 
Deferred bonus plans 
 
Lloyds Banking Group operates a number of deferred bonus plans that are equity settled. Bonuses in respect of employee 
performance in 2023 have been recognised in the charge in line with the proportion of the deferral period completed. 
 

Save-As-You-Earn schemes 
 
Eligible employees may enter into contracts through the Save-As-You-Earn schemes to save up to £500 per month and, at the expiry 
of a fixed term of three or five years, have the option to use these savings within six months of the expiry of the fixed term to acquire 
shares in Lloyds Banking Group at a discounted price of no less than 80 per cent of the market price at the start of the invitation. 
 

Other share option plans 
 
Lloyds Banking Group Executive Share Plan 2003 
 
The Plan was adopted in December 2003 and under the Plan share options may be granted to senior employees. Options under this 
plan have been granted specifically to facilitate recruitment and as such were not subject to any performance conditions. The Plan is 
used not only to compensate new recruits for any lost share awards but also to make grants to key individuals for retention purposes 
with, in some instances, the grant being made subject to individual performance conditions. 
 

Lloyds Banking Group Long-Term Incentive Plan 
 
The Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) introduced in 2006 is aimed at delivering shareholder value by linking the receipt of shares to an 
improvement in the performance of Lloyds Banking Group over a three year period. Awards are made within limits set by the rules 
of the LTIP, with the limits determining the maximum number of shares that can be awarded equating to three times annual salary. 
In exceptional circumstances this may increase to four times annual salary. 
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4a.  Staff costs and other employee related costs (continued) 
Other share option plans (continued) 
Lloyds Banking Group Long-Term Incentive Plan (continued) 
 
Participants may be entitled to any dividends paid during the vesting period if the performance conditions are met. An amount equal 
in value to any dividends paid between the award date and the date the Remuneration Committee determine that the performance  
conditions were met may be paid, based on the number of shares that vest. The Remuneration Committee will determine if any 
dividends are to be paid in cash or in shares. 
 
Set out below is a summary of options granted under the plan: 

 2023 2022 2021 

  Number of shares 
Number of shares 

Restated* 
Number of shares 

Restated* 

    

Outstanding at 1 January  5,625,496     2,927,613  - 

Granted 3,917,860 3,565,532 2,927,613 

Vested - - - 

Forfeited (418,576) (867,649) - 

Total 9,124,780 5,625,496 2,927,613 
 

A review has been undertaken of the presentation of the options granted. Accordingly, the prior year disclosure has been restated 
to better reflect leavers and joiners such that the closing balance of outstanding share options reflects active employees at each 
reporting date. The impact of this restatement is summarised in note 21. 
 
At the end of the performance period for the 2020 grant, the targets had not been fully met and therefore these awards vested in 
2023 at a rate of 43.70 per cent.  
 
Awards in respect of the 2021 grant are due to vest in 2024 at a rate of 100 per cent. The number of shares awarded has been 
determined by applying a share price adjusted to exclude the value of estimated future dividends. 
  
The weighted average fair value of awards granted in the year was £0.42 per share (2022: £0.36).  
 
The fair value calculations as at 31 December 2023 for grants made in the year, using Black-Scholes models and Monte-Carlo 
simulation, are based on the following assumptions:  

  

 
Save-as- 

you-earn 

Executive 
Share Plan 

2003 

 
 

LTIP 

Weighted average risk-free interest rate 4.52% 4.36% 3.71% 

Weighted average expected life 3.3 years 1.9 years 3.6 years 

Weighted average expected volatility  28% 30% 34% 

Weighted average expected dividend yield  6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 

Weighted average share price £0.44 £0.46 £0.52 

Weighted average exercise price £0.39 Nil Nil 

    
Expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which Lloyds Banking Group’s shares are expected to fluctuate during the life of an 
option. The expected volatility is estimated based on the historical volatility of the closing daily share price over the most recent 
period that is commensurate with the expected life of the option. The historical volatility is compared to the implied volatility 
generated from market traded options in Lloyds Banking Group’s shares to assess the reasonableness of the historical volatility and 
adjustments made where appropriate. 
 
Matching shares 
 
Lloyds Banking Group undertakes to match shares purchased by employees up to the value of £45 per month; these matching shares 
are held in trust for a mandatory period of three years on the employee’s behalf, during which period the employee is entitled to any 
dividends paid on such shares. The award is subject to a non-market based condition: if an employee leaves within this three year  
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4a.  Staff costs and other employee related costs (continued) 
Other share option plans (continued) 
 
period for other than a ‘good’ reason, all of the matching shares are forfeited. Similarly if the employees sell their purchased shares 
within three years, their matching shares are forfeited. 
 
4b.  Number of employees  
 
The average monthly number of employees directly employed by the Company is as follows: 
 

  
2023 

No. 
2022 

No. 

UK 1,911 1,873 

Total 1,911 1,873 

 
The costs of employees in the above table are recharged to Scottish Widows Group companies. 
 
5. Operating expenses 

 2023 2022 

  £000 £000 

   
Group recharges from Lloyds Banking Group 565,527   719,538   

Direct Platform costs 147,700 - 

Third Party Outsourcing costs  47,464   56,894   

Professional fees and levies 38,717 42,483 

     Other expenses 17,588 16,259   

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 9) 13,430 21,913  

Total 830,426 857,086 

 
From the start of 2023, there was a Lloyds Banking Group wide business operating model change, whereby the process of allocating 
group recharges was moved to a Platform approach. The impact on the Company is a reduction in costs previously incurred by Lloyds 
Bank Plc and then recharged to the Company, to the Company being charged directly. The costs are not new, but in 2023 the costs 
are now analysed within Lloyds Banking Group in a new way. 
 
6. Auditor’s remuneration 

 2023 2022 

  £000 £000 

 
Fees payable to the Company’s Auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual financial 
statements 59 57 

Total 59 57 
 

The Auditor’s remuneration disclosed in operating expenses (included within Professional fees and levies - note 5) includes amounts 
relating to and recharged to companies within the IP&I division and disclosed in the financial statements of those companies.  
 
During the year, the audit fee in respect of the audit of SWRBS was £59.4k (2022: £63.5k). 
 

7. Net Interest receivable in respect of defined benefit pension scheme 

 2023 2022 

  £000 £000 

   
Expected return on defined benefit pension scheme assets 49,340 31,983 

Interest cost on defined benefit pension scheme obligation (37,578) (24,858) 

Total 11,762 7,125 
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8. Taxation  
 
(a) Current year tax charge 

 2023 2022 

 £000 £000 

   

UK corporation tax:   

Current tax on taxable profit for the year  (3,275) (1,566) 

Adjustment in respect of prior years - (179) 

Total current tax charge (3,275) (1,745) 

   

Deferred tax:   

Origination and reversal of timing differences (1,825) (3,055) 

Adjustment in respect of prior years (2,266) (240) 

Impact of deferred tax rate change (353) 116 

Total deferred tax charge (4,444) (3,179) 

   

Total income tax charge (7,719) (4,924) 

 
Corporation tax is calculated at a rate of 23.50% (2022: 19.00 %) of the taxable profit for the year. 
 
(b) Factors affecting the tax charge for the year 
 

A reconciliation of the charge that would result from applying the standard United Kingdom corporation taxation rate to the profit 
before tax to the actual tax charge for the year is given below: 

 

  2023 2022 

 £000 £000 

   

Profit before tax 21,090 24,368 

Tax charge thereon at UK corporation tax rate of 23.50% (2022: 19.00%) (4,956) (4,630) 

Factors affecting charge:   

Disallowed items (144) - 

Non-taxable items - 8 

Adjustments in respect of prior years (2,266) (418) 

Effect of increase in future tax rate and related impacts (353) 116 

Total (7,719) (4,924) 
 

Effective rate 36.60% 20.38% 
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9. Intangible assets 

 

Software development costs 

 

2023 2022 

£000 £000 

Cost   
At 1 January 145,237 159,038 

Disposals  (35,004)  (13,801)  

At 31 December 110,233 145,237 

Accumulated amortisation   
At 1 January 124,246 116,134 

Amortisation charge for the year  13,430 21,913 

Amortisation on disposals (35,004)  (13,801)  

At 31 December 102,672 124,246 

Carrying amount   
At 31 December 7,561 20,991 

 

 

Of the above total for software development costs, £nil is expected to be amortised more than one year after the reporting date  (2022: 
£7.6m). Items fully amortised in the year have been written off as disposals. There were no additions in the year (2022: £nil), due to 
assets now being administered by Lloyds Banking Group and recharged to the Company through Group recharges from Lloyds Banking 
Group in operating expenses. 
 

 
10. Tax liabilities 

 2023 2022 
 £000     £000 

   
Current tax (liabilities) (14,436) (13,167) 
Deferred tax (liabilities)  (43,749) (45,744) 

Total tax (liabilities) (58,185) (58,911) 

   
 

Recognised deferred tax 

  
2023 2022 
£000 £000 

   

Deferred tax liabilities comprise:   

Pension and other post-retirement benefits (52,597) (58,800) 

Accelerated capital allowances                8,848          10,790 

Share based payments -             2,266 

Total deferred tax liabilities (43,749) (45,744) 

 
The Finance Act 2021, which received Royal Assent on 10 June 2021, increases the rate of corporation tax from 19% to 25% with 
effect from 1 April 2023.  
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10. Tax assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
Recognised deferred tax (continued) 
 
The movement in the deferred tax (liability) for the year ended 31 December is as follows:  
 

2023 Total  

Pension & 
other post 
retirement 
obligations 

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 
Pension 

spreading 

  Share 
based 

payments 

  £000 £000 £000 £000      £000 

      

Opening balance as at 1 January 2023 (45,744) (58,800) 10,790 - 2,266 

(Charge) / credit to:  
- profit or loss 
- other comprehensive income 

 

(4,444) 
6,439 

 

 
(236) 
6,439 

 

 
(1,942) 

- 
 

- 
- 
 

 
(2,266) 

- 
 

Closing balance as at 31 December 2023 (43,749) (52,597) 8,848 - - 

 
 

2022 Total  

Pension & 
other post 
retirement 
obligations 

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 
Pension 

spreading 

  Share 
based 

payments 

  £000 £000 £000 £000      £000 

      

Opening balance as at 1 January 2022 (75,633) (90.373) 12,474 - 2,266 

(Charge) / credit to:  
- profit or loss 
- other comprehensive income 

 

(3,180) 
33,069 

 

 
(1,496) 
33,069 

 

 
(1,684) 

- 
 

- 
- 
 

 
- 
- 

 

Closing balance as at 31 December 2022 (45,744) (58,800) 10,790 - 2,266       

 
 
11. Loans and other receivables 
 

 2023 2022 

  £000 £000 

   
Amounts due from Group undertakings (note 19) 178,752 116,110  

Accrued income 19,351 12,847 

Other receivables 6,415 5,485 

Total 204,518 134,442 
 

None of the above balances are interest-bearing (2022: £nil). Of the above total £nil (2022: £nil) is expected to be recovered more than 
one year after the reporting date. 
 

Information in respect of credit risk is given in note 18. 
 

Further information relating to amounts due from Group undertakings, which are the same as internal trade receivables, is set out 
in note 19. 
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12. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows include the following: 

   2023 2022 

  £000 £000 

   

Investment held through a liquidity fund  201,304 235,750 

Total 201,304 235,750 

 
13. Capital and reserves attributable to Company’s shareholder 
 

 2023 2022 

  £’000 £’000 

Share capital   
Authorised, issued and fully paid share capital:   
81,000,000 (2022: 81,000,000) shares of £1 each 81,000 81,000 

   

Retained earnings 326,286 343,341 

 
 
14. Retirement benefit asset 
 
The Company’s employees may be members of the SWRBS, which provides defined benefits, or members of Lloyds Banking Group 
Schemes, which provide defined benefits and/or defined contribution benefits to the members of those schemes.  
 
(a) SWRBS 

 
(i)       Characteristics of the SWRBS 

 
The SWRBS is a funded scheme in the UK, operated as a separate legal entity under trust law by Scottish Widows Pension Trustees 
Limited until 31 December 2018 in compliance with the Pensions Act 2004. As at 1 January 2019, Scottish Widows Pension Trustees 
Limited was replaced by Lloyds Banking Group Pension Trustee Limited (“the Trustee”). A valuation exercise is carried out for the 
scheme at least every three years, whereby scheme assets are measured at market value and liabilities (technical provisions) are 
measured using prudent assumptions. If a deficit is identified a recovery plan is agreed between the Company and the Trustee and 
sent to the Pensions Regulator for review. The Company has not provided for these deficit contributions as the future economic 
benefits arising from these contributions are expected to be available to the Company. 
 
The most recent triennial valuation took place as at 31 December 2021 and showed that the scheme had a surplus of £29m on an 
actuarial funding basis. No recovery plan was therefore required. The company agreed to continue making contributions in respect 
of future service of active members and to cover the costs of running the scheme. The Company paid contributions of approximately 
£10.1m to the SWRBS in 2023 (2022: £11.1m). Employee contributions made during the year were £nil (2022: £nil). 
 
The technical provisions liabilities differ from the liabilities assessed under IAS19, with technical provisions typically being more 
prudent. The IAS19 liabilities in these financial statements have been calculated by an independent, qualified actuary appointed by 
Lloyds Banking Group.  
   
The responsibility for the governance of the SWRBS lies with the Trustee, whose role is to ensure that the SWRBS is administered in 
accordance with the SWRBS rules and relevant legislation, and to safeguard the assets in the best interests of all members and 
beneficiaries. The Trustee is solely responsible for setting investment policy and for agreeing funding requirements with the employer 
through the triennial valuation process. The Trustee must be a representative of the Company and plan participants in accordance 
with the SWRBS’s regulations. 
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14.        Retirement benefit asset/(liability) (continued) 
(a) SWRBS (continued) 
(ii)   Amounts recognised in the Financial Statements 

 
The amounts recognised in the Company’s balance sheet are as follows: 

 

2023 2022 

£000 £000 

   

Fair value of scheme assets 1,035,995 
        

1,009,342   

Present value of defined benefit obligations (825,607) (774,143)  

Surplus recognised in the balance sheet 210,388  235,199  

 
 
The following tables present a further analysis of the amounts recognised in the Company's balance sheet: 

 2023 2022 

  £000 £000 

Net amount recognised in the balance sheet   
At 1 January  235,199 362,454 

Service cost (3,825) (9,226) 

Net interest on net defined benefit asset/liability 11,762 7,125 

Remeasurement effects recognised in other comprehensive income (40,568) (133,862) 

Employer contributions 10,147 11,100 

Administration costs incurred during the year (2,328) (2,392) 

Exchange and other adjustments 1 - 

At 31 December 210,388  235,199 

 

 2023 2022 
  £000 £000 

Movements in the defined benefit obligation   
At 1 January 774,143 1,294,548  

Current service cost 3,825  9,121  

Interest expense 37,578  24,858  

Remeasurements:   
Actuarial losses – experience 43,805  74,713  

Actuarial (gains) – demographic assumptions (10,810)  (20,510)  

Actuarial losses/(gains) – financial assumptions 11,835  (566,602)  

Benefits paid (34,768)  (42,090)  

Past service cost - plan amendments - 105  

Exchange and other adjustments (1) - 

At 31 December 825,607  774,143  

 
In July 2018, a decision was sought from the High Court in respect of the requirement to equalise the Guaranteed Minimum Pension 
(“GMP”) benefits accrued between 1990 and 1997 from contracting out of the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme. In its 
judgement handed down on 26 October 2018 the High Court confirmed the requirement to treat men and women equally with 
respect to these benefits and a range of methods that the Trustee is entitled to adopt to achieve equalisation. Lloyds Banking Group 
recognised a past service cost of £3.4 million for the SWRBS in respect of equalisation in 2018 and a further £1.2m was recognised in 
2019. Following further assessment of the costs of equalisation, an additional £0.9m for the SWRBS was recognised in 2020. This is 
based on a number of assumptions and the actual impact may be different. 
 
In June 2023, the High Court handed down a decision (Virgin Media Limited v NTL Pension Trustees II Limited and others) which 
potentially has implications for the validity of amendments made by pension schemes, which were contracted-out on a salary-related 
basis between 6 April 1997 and the abolition of contracting-out in 2016. On 25 July 2024, the Court of Appeal upheld the original 
decision. However, there remains uncertainty as to whether the position could be impacted by the Department for Work and 
Pensions bringing forward changes in legislation and therefore the Company has not made any allowance for the possible impact of 
the ruling as it is currently unclear whether any additional liabilities might arise, and if they were to arise, how they would be reliably 
measured.  
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14. Retirement benefit asset/(liability) (continued) 
(a) SWRBS (continued) 
(ii)     Amounts recognised in the Financial Statements of the SWRBS (continued) 
 
The Company will continue to monitor developments to decide whether any subsequent actions or amendments to IAS 19 liabilities 
are required. 
 
The following tables provide an analysis of the SWRBS assets: 

 2023 2022 

  £000 £000 

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets   
At 1 January 1,009,342  1,657,002  

Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount rate 4,262 (646,261)  

Interest income 49,340 31,983  

Employer contributions 10,147  11,100  

Benefits paid (34,768)  (42,090)  

Administrative costs paid (2,328) (2,392) 

At 31 December 1,035,995  1,009,342  

 
 

 2023 2022 

 

Fair value of 
assets with 

quoted prices 

Fair value of 
assets with 

unquoted 
prices Total 

Fair value 
of assets 

with quoted 
prices 

Fair value of 
assets with 

unquoted 
prices Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

       
Debt instruments 1,143,771 - 1,143,771  1,134,254 - 1,134,254  

Pooled investment vehicles 159,999 109,204  269,203  115,298  88,516  203,814  

Derivatives 23,621 - 23,621 15,667 - 15,667 
Money market instruments, cash 
and other assets and liabilities 

2,595 (403,195) (400,600) 68,203 (412,596) (344,393) 

Total fair value of scheme assets 1,329,986  (293,991)  1,035,995  1,333,422  (324,080)  1,009,342  

 
Note that the negative Money market instruments figures show the cash value of the gilt repurchase agreements held by SWRBS. 
The value is negative as the scheme has effectively borrowed the cash which will need to be repaid at a future date. 
 
 
An analysis of the SWRBS debt securities is provided below: 
 

2023 

Total AAA AA A 
BBB or 
lower 

BB or 
lower Not rated 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

        
Government bonds 120,704  - 120,704 -    - -  -  

Index linked government bonds 796,115  - 796,115 - -  -  -  

Total fair value of scheme assets 916,819  - 916,819  - - - - 

        
2022 

Total AAA AA A 
BBB or 
lower 

BB or 
lower Not rated 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

        
Government bonds 66,921  - 66,921 -    - -  -  

Index linked government bonds 750,561  - 750,561 - -  -  -  

Total fair value of scheme assets 817,482  - 817,482  - - - - 
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14. Retirement benefit asset/(liability) (continued) 
(a) SWRBS (continued) 
(ii)       Amounts recognised in the Financial Statements of the SWRBS (continued) 
 
The SWRBS pooled investment vehicles comprise: 

 2023 2022 

  £000 £000 

   
Equity funds 48,127 -  

Bond funds 154,929  31,822  

Alternative credit funds 48,387 62,571 

Cash funds 17,760  109,421 

At 31 December 269,203 203,814 

 
 
The expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December comprises: 
 

 2023 2022 

  £000 £000 

    
Current service cost 3,825  9,121  

Past service cost - plan amendments  -   105  

Net interest amount (11,762) (7,125) 

Plan administration costs incurred in the year 2,328  2,392 

Net expense recognised (5,609)  4,493   

 
 
The principal actuarial and financial assumptions used in valuations of the SWRBS were as follows: 

 2023 2022 

  % % 

   
Discount rate 4.70% 4.93% 

Rate of inflation:  
 

      Retail Prices Index 2.88% 3.01% 

      Consumer Prices Index 2.45% 2.66% 

Weighted-average rate of increase for pensions in payment 2.79% 2.90% 

   

 2023 2022 

 Years Years 

   
Life expectancy for member aged 60, on the valuation date:   
Men 27.3 27.2 

Women 28.4 28.1 

Life expectancy for member aged 60, 15 years after the valuation date:  
 

Men 27.0 27.7 

Women 29.3 29.2 
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14. Retirement benefit asset/(liability) (continued) 
(a) SWRBS (continued) 
(iii)      Amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows 

 
Risk exposure of the SWRBS 
 
The SWRBS is exposed to a number of risks, detailed below. Lloyds Banking Group has a specialist pension committee that governs 
and monitors the risk exposed to the SWRBS. 
 
Inflation rate risk: the SWRBS benefit obligations are linked to inflation both in deferment and once in payment. Higher inflation will 
lead to higher liabilities although this will be partially offset by holdings of inflation-linked gilts and inflation swaps. 
 
Interest rate risk: The defined benefit obligation is determined using a discount rate derived from yields on AA-rated corporate bonds. 
A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities although this will be partially offset by an increase in the value of 
bond holdings and derivatives. 
 
Longevity risk: The SWRBS obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the members so increases in life expectancy, for example 
as a result of increasing improvements to life expectancy from current estimates, will result in an increase in the scheme’s liabilities. 
        
Investment risk: SWRBS assets are invested in a diversified portfolio of debt securities and other return-seeking assets. If the assets 
underperform the discount rate used to calculate the defined benefit obligation, it will reduce the surplus or increase the deficit. 
Volatility in asset values and the discount rate will lead to volatility in the net pension liability on the Company’s balance sheet and 
in other comprehensive income. To a lesser extent this will also lead to volatility in the IAS 19 pension expense in the Company’s 
statement of comprehensive income. 
 
The ultimate cost of the defined benefit obligations will depend upon actual future events rather than the assumptions made. The 
assumptions made are unlikely to be borne out in practice and as such the cost may be higher or lower than expected. 
 
Details of the guarantee to the trustees of the SWRBS are provided below which clarify the Company’s exposure to entity specific or 
scheme specific risks in relation to the SWRBS. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 
The effect of reasonably possible changes in key assumptions on the value of the SWRBS liabilities and the resulting pension charge 
in the Company’s statement of comprehensive income and on the net defined benefit pension scheme asset is set out below. The 
sensitivities provided assume that all other assumptions and the value of the SWRBS assets remaining unchanged, and are not 
intended to represent changes that are at the extremes of possibility.  The calculations are approximate in nature and full detailed 
calculations could lead to a different result.  It is unlikely that isolated changes to individual assumptions will be experienced in 
practice. Due to the correlation of assumptions, aggregating the effects of these isolated changes may not be a reasonable estimate 
of the actual effect of simultaneous changes in multiple assumptions. 
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14. Retirement benefit asset/(liability) (continued) 
(a)         SWRBS (continued) 
(iii)        Amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows (continued) 
Sensitivity analysis (continued) 
 

  
Effect of reasonably possible alternative assumptions 

 
Increase (decrease) in the 
income statement charge 

Increase (decrease) in the 
net defined benefit 

pension scheme asset 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Central basis 4,291 4,090 210,388  235,199  

Inflation:     

      Increase of 0.1 per cent (515) (582) (9,852) (10,494) 

      Decrease of 0.1 per cent  539   575   10,332   10,373  

Discount rate:  
 

 
 

      Increase of 0.1 per cent  835   930  11,462 12,023 

      Decrease of 0.1 per cent (821) (916) (11,620) (12,023) 

Expected life expectancy of members:  
 

 
 

      Increase of one year (1,306) (1,166) (26,134) (22,069) 

      Decrease of one year 1,333   1,187   26,684   22,468  
 

 
Sensitivity analysis method and assumptions 
 

The inflation assumption sensitivity applies to both the assumed rate of increase in the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) and the Retail 
Prices Index (RPI). The assumed pension increases before and after retirement are linked to inflation (either CPI or RPI) subject to 
certain minimum and maximum limits. The inflation assumption sensitivity allows for a corresponding impact of changing the inflation 
assumption as the assumed pension increases both before and after retirement. 
 

The sensitivity analysis does not include the impact of any possible change in the rate of salary increases as pensionable salaries have 
been frozen since 2 April 2014.  
 

The life expectancy assumption has been applied by allowing for an increase/decrease in life expectation from age 60 of one year, 
based upon the approximate weighted average age. Whilst this is an approximate approach and will not give the same result as a 
one year increase in life expectancy at every age, it provides an appropriate indication of the potential impact on the schemes from 
changes in life expectancy. 
   
There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from the prior year. 
 
Asset-liability matching strategies 
 

The SWRBS investment strategy is determined by the Trustee in consultation with Lloyds Bank plc as the principal employer. It is 
regularly reviewed and developed. The objective is to reduce the volatility of the SWRBS funding position caused by changes in market 
expectations of interest rates and inflation and the assets are structured to take into account the profile of the SWRBS liabilities 
through holdings of debt securities and use of derivatives. 
 
 

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation 
 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit pension obligation is 15 years (2022: 16 years).  
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14. Retirement benefit asset/(liability) (continued) 
(b) Defined contribution schemes 
 
The SWRBS also includes a defined contribution section; remaining employees are members of the Your Tomorrow defined 
contribution scheme. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the charge to the Company’s statement of comprehensive income 
in respect of the defined contributions schemes was £22.6m (2022: £8.7m), representing the contributions payable by the Company 
in accordance with the scheme’s rules. There were no outstanding or prepaid contributions at 31 December 2023. 
 
 (c)  Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income for total defined benefit schemes 
 
Remeasurement effects recognised in other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December are reconciled to the analyses 
of amounts recognised in the Company balance sheet as follows: 

 2023 2022 

 Before tax Tax credit After tax Before tax 
Tax 

expense After tax 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
       
SWRBS (40,568) 10,142 (30,426) (133,862)  33,069 (100,793) 

Total (40,568) 10,142 (30,426) (133,862)  33,069 (100,793) 

 
 
15. Accruals  
 

 Accruals at the year-end comprise liabilities in respect of various operational activities.   

 2023  2022 

  £000 £000 

   
Accruals 33,472 56,098 

Total 33,472  56,098  

 
None of the above balances (2022:  £nil) are expected to be settled in more than one year after the reporting date. 
 
 
16. Trade and other payables 

   

 2023 2022 

  £000 £000 

   
Amounts due to Group undertakings (note 19) 125,001 86,367 

Other payables 462 665 

Total 125,463 87,032 

 
None of the above balances are interest bearing (2022: £nil) nor expected to be settled in more than one year after the reporting 
date. 
 
Further information relating to amounts due to group undertakings is set out in note 19. 
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17. Net movement in operating assets and liabilities 

 2023  2022 

  £000 £000 

   
Decrease/(increase) in operating assets:   
Retirement benefit asset 24,811 127,255 

Loans and other receivables (70,076) (20,184)  

Net movement in operating assets                                                                                                              (45,265) 107,071 

   
Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities:   
Trade and other payables 38,431 (25,639)    

Accruals  (22,626) 7,161 

Net movement in operating liabilities 15,804 (18,478)  

    

Net movement in operating assets and liabilities (29,461) 88,593 

 
Note that the Accruals prior year balance has been restated by an immaterial amount. There is no impact on the primary statements. 
 
18. Risk management 
 
The Company is a service provider to subsidiary undertakings of Scottish Widows Group Limited. This note summarises the financial 
risks associated with the activities of the Company and the way in which the Company manages them. 
 
(a) Governance framework 
 
The Company is part of Lloyds Banking Group plc, which has established a risk management function with responsibility for 
implementing the Ring Fenced Bank risk management framework within the Company. 
 
This enterprise-wide risk management framework for the identification, assessment, measurement and management of risk covers 
the full spectrum of risks that the Company is exposed to, with risks categorised according to an approved Lloyds Banking Group risk 
language. This covers the principal risks faced by the Company.  
 
The performance of the Company depends on its ability to manage these risks.  
 
(b)  Risk appetite 
 

Risk appetite is the amount and type of risk that the Company Board is prepared to seek, accept or tolerate and is fully aligned to the 
Ring Fenced Bank strategy. Principal risks and uncertainties are reviewed and reported regularly.  
 

(c) Financial risks 
 

The Company is exposed to a range of financial risks through its financial assets and financial liabilities. In particular, the key financial 
risk is that there are insufficient assets to meet pension scheme obligations as these fall due. The most important components of 
financial risk are credit, market, liquidity and capital risk. 
 
The financial risk that the Company primarily faces due to the nature of its financial assets is market risk. The Company manages these 
risks in a number of ways, including monitoring of cash flow requirements and the use of financial instruments. The Company also 
has indirect exposure to fluctuations in value of the SWRBS defined benefit obligation. There are two specialist pension committees 
that govern and monitor the risks that SWRBS is exposed to.  Further information is available in note 14. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis at amortised cost. The summary of significant accounting 
policies (note 1) describes how the classes of financial instruments are measured and how income and expenses are recognised. 
 
The timing of the unwind of the deferred tax assets and liabilities is dependent on the timing of the unwind of the temporary timing 
differences, arising between the tax bases of the assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, to 
which these balances relate. 
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18. Risk management (continued) 
(c) Financial risks (continued) 
 
The sensitivity analysis given in this note in respect of interest rate risk is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other 
assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur as changes in assumptions may be correlated. The sensitivity analysis presented 
also represents, in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, management’s assessment of a 
reasonably possible alternative in respect of each sensitivity, rather than worst case scenario positions. 
 

(i)  Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that parties with whom we have contracted, fail to meet their financial obligations (both on and off-balance sheet). 
 

Credit risk is managed in line with the Lloyds Banking Group Credit Risk Policy which set out the principles of the credit control 
framework. 

 

Credit risk to the Company arises primarily from exposure to trade debtors and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
Exposure to trade debtors is assessed on a case by case basis, using a credit rating agency where appropriate. 
 

The following table sets out details of financial assets: 

 2023 2022 

 £000 £000 

   

Amounts due from Group undertakings  178,752 116,110 

Other receivables 6,415 5,485 

Cash and cash equivalents 201,304 235,750 

Total assets bearing credit risk 386,471 357,345 
 

The tables below and on the following page analyse financial assets subject to credit risk using Standard & Poor’s rating or equivalent. 
 
As at 31 December 2023 

 
 

Total 
 

AAA AA 
 

A 
BBB or  
Lower Not rated 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

       
Stage 1 assets       
Other receivables 6,415 - - - - 6,415 

Exposure to credit risk 6,415 - - - - 6,415 
       
Simplified approach       
Amounts due from Group 
undertakings 178,752  - - 167,360 - 11,392 

Exposure to credit risk 178,752 - - 167,360 - 11,392  
       
Asset at FVTPL       
Cash and cash equivalents 201,304 - - 201,304 - - 

Total 386,471 - - 368,664 - 17,807 
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18. Risk management (continued) 
(c) Financial risks (continued) 
i) Credit risk (continued) 
 
As at 31 December 2022 

 
 

Total 
 

AAA AA 
 

A 
BBB or  
Lower Not rated 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

       
Stage 1 assets       
Other receivables 5,485 - - - - 5,485 

Exposure to credit risk 5,485 - - - - 5,485 
       
Simplified approach       
Amounts due from Group 
undertakings 116,110  - - 105,820 - 10,290  

Exposure to credit risk 116,110  - - 105,820 - 10,290  
       
Asset at FVTPL       
Cash and cash equivalents 235,750 - - 235,750 - - 

Total 357,345 - - 341,570 - 15,775 

 
The fair value of instruments recognised at amortised cost is an appropriate approximation of their fair value. 
 
There are no expected losses to be recognised for stage 1 assets - other receivables. In addition, there are no expected losses to be 
recognised for simplified approach - amounts due from Group Undertakings as the counterparties are Lloyds Banking Group entities. 
 
ii) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company has insufficient financial resources to meet its commitments as they fall due, or can only 
secure them at excessive cost. Liquidity risk may result from either the inability to sell financial assets quickly at their fair values; or 
from the inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated. 
 

Liquidity risk has been analysed as arising from the settlement of balances owed to other Group undertakings of £125.0m (2022: 
£86.4m) and other payables of £0.5m (2022: £0.7m). These amounts are all contractually due within one month from the reporting 
date. 
 
iii) Capital risk 
 

Capital risk is defined as the risk that the Company has a sub-optimal amount or quality of capital or that capital is inefficiently 
deployed across Lloyds Banking Group. 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to have sufficient capital to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. 
 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to reflect changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company returns capital to the 
shareholder, issues new shares or sells assets. 
 

The Company’s capital comprises all components of equity, movements in which are set out in the statement of changes in equity. 
The Company receives most of its funding from its parent and does not raise funding externally. 
 
iv) Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that our capital or earnings profile is affected by adverse market rates, in particular interest rates and credit 
spreads in the SWRBS defined benefit pension schemes. 
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18. Risk management (continued) 
(c) Financial risks (continued) 

 
v) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest 
rates and the shape of the yield curve. Interest rate risk arises in respect of cash balances which are either held on deposit or invested 
in a liquidity fund. None of the other financial assets or financial liabilities of the Company are interest-bearing.  
 
If interest rates were to increase or decrease by 25 basis points, the impact on profit or loss after tax would be an increase or decrease 
respectively of £385.0k (2022: increase or decrease respectively of £475.9k) in respect of interest-bearing financial assets and 
financial liabilities.  
 
19. Related party transactions 
 

(a) Ultimate parent and shareholding 
 

The parent undertaking which is the parent undertaking of the smallest group to consolidate these financial statements is Lloyds 
Bank plc. Copies of the consolidated Annual Report and Accounts of Lloyds Bank plc may be obtained from Group Secretariat, at the 
registered office, 25 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7HN. 
 

The ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party is Lloyds Banking Group plc, which is the parent undertaking of the largest 
group to consolidate these financial statements and those of the immediate parent.  Copies of the consolidated Annual Report and 
Accounts of Lloyds Banking Group plc may be obtained from Lloyds Banking Group’s registered office at 25 Gresham Street, London 
EC2V 7HN or downloaded via www.lloydsbankinggroup.com. 
 
(b) Transactions and balances with related parties 

 

Transactions between the Company and other companies in the Lloyds Banking Group 
 

The Company has entered into the following transactions with other related parties during the year and holds the following balances 
with other related parties at the end of the year: 
 2023 

 

Income during 
year 

Expenses 
during year 

  Payable at 
year end 

Receivable at  

year end 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Relationship 
 

 
    

Parent (Lloyds Bank plc) - 547,913  19,722  9  
Other related parties 981,561  17,614 105,279  178,743 

     
 2022 

 

Income during 
year 

Expenses 
during year 

     Payable at 
year end 

   Receivable at 
year end 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Relationship 
 

 
    

Parent (Lloyds Bank plc) - 720,778  61,804  10  
Other related parties 988,826  - 24,563  116,100 

The above balances are unsecured in nature and are expected to be settled in cash. 

In addition to the balances disclosed in the table, balances of £201,303,556 (2022: £235,751,530) and income of £5,168,867 (2022: 
£3,126,634) in funds controlled by Lloyds Banking Group meet the definition of related parties. 
 
Transactions between the Company and key management 
 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of the Company, which is determined to be the Company’s Directors. 
 
The Directors consider that they receive no remuneration for their services to the Company (2022: £nil). 
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20. Future accounting developments 
 
The following pronouncements are not applicable for the year ending 31 December 2023 and have not been applied in preparing 
these financial statements. Save as disclosed below, the full impact of these accounting changes is being assessed by Lloyds Banking 
Group, and reliable estimates cannot be made at this stage. 
 
The IASB has issued a number of minor amendments to IFRS effective 1 January 2024, including IFRS 16 Lease liability in a sale and 
leaseback, IAS 1 Non-current liabilities with covenants, and IAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current. These 
amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company and, apart from the amendments relating to IFRS 16 
Lease liability in a sale and leaseback, have not been endorsed for use in the UK. 
 
IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. 
IFRS 18 introduces three defined categories for income and expenses (operating, investing and financing) to improve the structure 
of the income statement, and requires all companies to provide new defined subtotals, including operating profit. IFRS 18 requires 
companies to disclose explanations of company-specific performance measures that are related to the income statement, referred 
to as management-defined performance measures. IFRS 18 sets out enhanced guidance on how to organise information and whether 
to provide it in the primary financial statements or in the notes. IFRS 18 also requires companies to provide more transparency about 
operating expenses, helping investors to find and understand the information they need. 
 
IFRS 18 is expected to impact the Company’s income statement and disclosure notes, but will have no impact on the financial 
performance or position of the Company. IFRS 18 has not yet been endorsed for use in the UK. 
 
There are no other standards or interpretations that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on 
the Company. 
 
21. Restatement of comparatives 
 
The prior year comparative information included in note 4a in regards to the Lloyds Banking Group Long-Term Incentive Plan has 
been restated as explained below. 
 
During the preparation of the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023, it was discovered that the disclosure of the summary 
of options granted under the Lloyds Banking Group Long-Term Incentive Plan should only include participants of the plan who are 
employed by the Company. Historically the disclosure had used data which included all executive level participants of the plan within 
Lloyds Banking Group, not just those employed by the Company. As a result, prior year comparatives have been restated to reflect 
the correction, with the table below summarising the impact of this on the disclosure. There is no impact on the primary statements. 
 

 

 
2022 as 

previously 
reported 

Adjustment 2022 restated 

    Number of shares Number of shares Number of shares 

     
Outstanding at 1 January  20,956,847 (18,029,234) 2,927,613 

Granted  10,832,429 (7,266,897) 3,565,532 

Vested  (6,186,075) 6,186,075 0 

Forfeited  (6,150,094) 5,282,445 (867,649) 

Dividend Award  74,311 (74,311) 0 

Total 19,527,418 (13,901,922) 5,625,496 
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21. Restatement of comparatives (continued) 
 
 
 

 

 
2021 as 

previously 
reported 

Adjustment 2021 restated 

    Number of shares Number of shares Number of shares 

     
Outstanding at 1 January  24,218,370 (24,218,370) - 

Granted  5,095,632 (2,168,019) 2,927,613 

Vested  (3,486,791) 3,486,791 - 

Forfeited  (4,935,850) 4,935,850 - 

Dividend Award  65,486 (65,486) - 

Total 20,956,847 (18,029,234) 2,927,613 

 
22. Post balance sheet events 
 
There are no events after the reporting date up until the date of issuance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 


